0ld Territorial Divisions
& Land Measures:
Where to Draw the Line

‘In the inheritance which you will hold in the land..... you
shall not remove your neighbour’s landmark, which the men

of old have set’. -Deunteronomy 19:14

he administrative divisions that underpin the way our

society is regulated today have evolved in various
ways; some of them over a long period of time. Others,
such as District Electoral Divisions (DEDs), Health Board
and Planning Regions, are of comparatively recent origin,
brought into being in response to altered demographic
patterns, changes in local and national government
structures, or, more frequently, in order to facilitate the
collection of local rates and taxes. The district electoral
divisions, for instance, were instituted in the 1830s in order
to provide a convenient framework for the administration
of the Irish Poor Law.

Generally speaking the most commonly recognised
boundaries are those of the provinces, counties, baronies,
civil parishes and townlands. The Irish term for province
‘criige) derives from the Old Irish coigead (=a fifth); thas
mplies that Ireland originally had five, but Meath (Madbe,
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the "Middle One’) is now incorporated in Leinster. The
provinces were sometimes divided regionally as, for
instance, Desmond (Deas Mumbain) and Thomond i.e.
North Munster or Co.Clare.

Counties and Baronies

The counties were created by the English, mainly, as Dr.
Eoin Mac Neill once colourfully phrased it, “for the
purposes of the courts, the sheriff and the hangman™.
None of them is older than the thirteenth century.
According to Thomas Larcom twelve of the thirty-two
counties now existing were created by King John in 1210.®
The others were of longer gestation due to the re-
emergence of liberties and counties palatinate in the
fourteenth century. The western parts of the country were
sot shired into counties until the final years of the

sixteenth century. Clare as a county is first mentioned in
1570% although a sheriff of Thomond had already existed
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BARONIES

1. BURREN
CORCOMROE
INCHIQUIN
BUNRATTY UPR.
TULLA UPR.
IBRICKAN
ISLANDS
TULLA LR.
MOYARTA
CLONDERALAW
BUNRATTY LR.
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CIVIL PARISHES OF COUNTY CLARE

£~ = CIVILPARISHES ADJCNING ACROSS
BARONY BOUNDARIES.
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Thomond in the Thirteenth Century. (after 6 hGgin).

for some years. The last county to be declared was
Wicklow, which was separated from Dublin and shired in
1605.

(1574 AD) “ The division of Connaught and Thomond as it is
now bounded, viz., the east and south parts, with the river of
Shenon, on the west side with the great ocean sea, on the
north with the great Lough Earne; which all are divided into
several shires or counties as followeth:

Thomond in the one county to be named the county of
(6771 —

the county of Clare containeth the whole of Thomond, being
in length from Leymeconcollen [Loop Head] to Killalowe 45
miles, and in breadth from Limerick to Beallaleynee
[Ballyline] 25 miles; which of ancient time was divided into
nine troghkyeds or hundreds, and is now appointed to be
contained in eight baronies”.®

The nine triocha Céts were O mBloid, O gCaisin,
Tradaree, Cineal Fearmaic, Ui Cormaic, East Corca-
baiscinn, West Corcabaiscinn, Corcomroe and Burren.
Originally, as we have seen, it was planned to apportion
the county into eight baronies, but it would seem that
from the beginning nine were, in fact, created viz.
Tullaghynaspull (Tulla, or ‘Mac Namara countrie by East’),
Danganyvyggen (‘Mac Namara countrie by West’),
Clonroad (otherwise called The Islands), Clonderlaw (East
Corcabaiscinn), Moyarta (West Corcabaiscinn), Ibrickane,
Corcomroe, Burren (or Gragans) and Tullyodea. In the
modern arrangement Danganyvyggen and Tulla have been
superseded by the baronies of Bunratty (Upper and
Lower) and Tulla (Upper and Lower) while Corcabaiscinn
West and Tullyodea are subsumed in the present baronies
of Moyarta and Inchiquin respectively.

Even though the baronies are the largest sub-divisions
of the county - the average number for each county is ten -
they no longer have any function as public administrative
units. Like the counties, they, too, were devised by the
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English; but, since their boundaries to a large extent were
based on those of the old Triocha Céts, they are amongst
the oldest topographical divisions we have. From the
sixteenth to the nineteenth centuries the baronies were
important units of reference for land surveys, plantations,
population censuses etc. They are, therefore, of great
interest to the genealogist and historian. There are in all
three hundred and fifty baronies in Ireland.

The Triocha Cét

Professor Hogan has suggested that the ‘hundred’
contained in the terminal ‘Cét’ (or Céad) of “Triocha Cét’
formed what was evidently a basic unit in the social and
military organisation of many peoples.®) In the beginning
the Triocha Cét was a military term that seemed to denote
a mustering of thirty hundred fighting men. Later it was
applied to the tribe or tribal groupings whose military
quota was fixed at this number. By about the seventh
century it had come by a natural extension of its meaning
to be applied to the territory, which originally was
required to furnish the quota of thirty hundred fighting
men. According to O’ Curry the number of Triocha Céts
in Ireland came to one hundred and eighty four. Giraldus
Cambrensis in the twelfth century puts the number at one
hundred and seventy six; he translates the term as
‘cantred’, probably confusing it with the Welsh ‘cantref’ -
an area comprising a hundred dwellings.

The Triocha Cét as a unit of military organisation was
probably ‘imported’ into Ireland by the Celts following
their contact with the Roman armies. The chief unit of the
ancient Roman army was the legion, which originally
consisted of three thousand (thirty hundred) infantry and
about 300 cavalry. It was divided into thirty maniples
(companies), each commanded by two centurions. Under
the emperors the standing army usually consisted of thirty
legions. There is, therefore, a striking similarity between
the Triocha Cét of early Ireland and the legion of early
Rome. A further coincidence will be found in the fact that



TGO VAL AALAI WL LU LY G LA LIWILIVLL UL WAy 3 pPAVUELLILLE.

In 1598 the “cartron or kearmire [ceathrd mir] of
Liscorbain in Seandangan contayned 21 daies of erabl
land” (sic).('2 A bequest of “two days ploughing in
Inshinludry and one in Gortmore with the grazing of three
cows in Cregganboy” in the will of Daniel O’Brien of
Carrowduff Castle in Inchiquin barony in 165603 seems
equally imprecise at this remove, but no doubt it was
perfectly intelligible to those whom it then concerned.

The task of quantifying archaic Irish land measures is
not simplified by the fact that considerable regional
differences are evident, not only in the way portions of
land were estimated, but also in the terms applied to the
various land units themselves. In Co.Tyrone, for example,
according to a document in the Carew Papers, the land
measures used were the ballibetagh, balliboe, sessiagh, gort
and quarter.'¥ In Fermanagh, on the other hand, land was
measured in ballibetaghes, quarters and tathes, every tathe
being coextensive with the balliboe in Tyrone. In
Tipperary the common subdivisions were called capell
lands (“a capell land containing 20 great acres, every acre
20 English acres”) and quartermeers, four of which were
reckoned to each capell land. In Connacht all were called
quarters and cartrons; a quarter being reckoned as four
cartrons, every cartron thirty acres. Clare is not specifically
mentioned in this document but it seems clear from the
Book of Survey and Distribution that, as in Connacht, the
quarter (ceathri), half-quarter and cartron (ceathri mir)
were the most commonly used measures. The quarter,
anglicised variously as carrow, carhoo, carucate (i.e.
ceathri cuid) etc., will be found as a name element in
upwards of sixty townlands in the county.

Larcom, who, as Director of the Ordnance Survey of
Ireland, had made a special study of the ancient land
measures gives a list of those most generally in use
throughout the country at large together with their most
usual subdivisions:

10 acres — 1 Gneeve; 2 Gneeves — 1 Sessiagh; 3 Sessiaghs - 1
Tate or Ballyboe; 2 Ballyboes - 1 Ploughland, Seisreagh or
Carrow; 4 Ploughlands - 1 Ballybetagh, or Townland; 30
Ballybetaghs - 1 Triocha Céad or Barony.%)

Notwithstanding the many anomalies that present
themselves there seems to be fairly general agreement that
the ‘quarter’ (carrow, ceathri) can be taken as loosely
representing one hundred and twenty acres. It was
sometimes called a ‘ploughland’, or ‘seisreagh’ from the
Irish seisreach meaning a team of horses yoked to a

plough:

[1674] “The quarter or plowland called Cahirmoele, the
quarter or plowland called Cahirfadda..’t®

In Clare the common subdivisions of the ‘quarter’ were
the ‘half-quarter’ (leath-ceathrii=sixty acres: e.g. Lecarrow
More and Lecarrow Beg in Kilmaley parish), the ‘cartron’
or ‘carrowmeer’ (ceathri# mir=thirty acres) and the
‘seiseadh’, or ‘sessiagh’, (i.e. sé4 cuid or sixth part of the
quarter=twenty acres.) But again there were variations, so
that once more it becomes necessary to emphasise that the
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In the names ot many ot our modern townlands e.g.
Cooguquid (i.e. the fifth part [of the quarter?] in
Kilnamona parish, Cooga in Ruan parish, Coogyulla (the
Ulster fifth) in Killilagh parish, Treanmanagh (an trian
mednach= the middle third) in the parishes of Kilkeedy
and Mullagh, and Dehomade (an deichii méid= the tenth
part) in Clondagad parish. The cartron, both in its Irish
and anglicised form, is preserved in the townlands of
Cartron (Abbey and Clonrush parishes), Carrowmeer
(Tomfinlough and Quin parishes) and Carrowvere (Rath
parish). The serseadh is recalled in the names of six of our
townlands viz. Sheshia (Abbey parish), Sheshodonnell
East and West (Carron parish), Sheshymore (Noughaval
parish) and Shessiv (Rath and Kildysart).

The Parish

In Ireland parishes derive mainly from church reforms
promulgated at the synods of Rathbreasail and Kells in the
twelfth century. The reforms were aimed at replacing the
monastic organisation of the Irish Church with a
hierarchical system based on a network of universally-
recognised administrative divisions in line with European
Christendom. The parish was the smallest ecclesiastical
unit; and, since Irish society was characteristically tribal,
the parish and parish church were frequently named after
some revered ancestor of the local ruling tribe.

Because of its essential homogeneity the parish network
quickly came to be recognised as a convenient framework
for civil purposes also, and it was widely used for
valuations, land surveys and census returns. Parish
boundaries are described in the Civil Survey of 1653 and
the parish was selected as the mapping unit in Sir William
Petty’s later Down Survey.

From the Reformation onwards, however, the parochial
arrangements of the two major religious communities in
Ireland differed greatly. Of necessity Catholic parishes
frequently amalgamated or had their boundaries altered for
practical pastoral reasons due to a scarcity of priests. This
was the case particularly during the ‘Penal days’ when
parochial admunistration virtually collapsed in some areas,
or was maintained only by a slender thread. Territorial
boundaries were not of crucial importance to a church
which had virtually to operate underground.

In the Protestant Church the situation was different.
Each parish represented a pre-determined source of
income in the form of a fixed tithe payable to the
Protestant rector. On that score alone it was important to
keep the parish boundaries intact. Moreover since the
parishes continued to be used as civil units for a variety of
purposes, their boundaries became notoriously well
established in the popular mind. They were carefully
recorded by the ordnance surveyors and their boundaries
clearly indicated in all the editions of the maps until the
early 1900s when, presumably because they were no longer
relevant as civil divisions, they were finally discarded.
These Protestant, or civil parishes, are of great interest;
they are the best representations now available of the
original pre-Reformation parishes particularly for those
parts of the country for which the Down Survey parish
maps no longer survive.















